ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

JUN 28 2013

S.C. Supreme Court

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Spartanburg County

J. Mark Hayes, II, Circuit Court Judge

SANTIAGO RIOS,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

Appellate Case No. 2012-213256

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

I N D E X

ISSUE PRESENTED

Violating Petitioner's rights pursuant to South Carolina law and the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, the PCR court erred in denying Petitioner relief from his murder conviction where the PCR court held trial counsel's deficient performance in failing to request a jury instruction on self-defense, which would have been reversed on direct appeal, was not prejudicial to Petitioner.

STATEMENT

On January 7, 2008, the Spartanburg County grand jury indicted Petitioner for murder. App. 954 – 955. The State represented by Trey Gowdy and Cindy Crick called the case for trial before the Honorable Roger Couch and a jury on April 28, 2008. David Collins and Doug Brannon represented Petitioner. App. 1. The jury found Petitioner guilty of murder. App. 674, lines 13 – 18. Judge Couch sentenced Petitioner to thirty years' imprisonment. App. 682, lines 23 – 25. Petitioner filed a timely notice of appeal, which was perfected by Ricky Harris. App. 685 – 698. On July 14, 2010, the Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner's conviction and sentence. App. 753 – 759. On July 30, 2010, the Court of Appeals issued remittitur. App. 760 – 761.

On October 13, 2010, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). App. 762 – 775. The matter proceeded to an evidentiary hearing on September 19, 2011 before the Honorable J. Mark Hayes, II. Susannah Ross represented Petitioner, and Suzanne White represented the state. App. 781. On January 18, 2012, Judge Hayes issued an order denying Petitioner relief. App. 913 – 922. On February 1, 2012, Petitioner filed a motion to alter or amend the judgment. App. 923 – 924. Judge Hayes requested oral argument concerning the motion by order filed February 23, 2012. App. 929-930. On June 14, 2012, the parties reconvened for oral argument. App. 931. By order filed on July 3 2012, Judge Hayes denied the motion to alter or amend, and directed the Attorney General to prepare an order. App. 950 – 951. On October 2, 2012, Judge Hayes signed the order prepared by the Attorney General. App. 952 – 953.

Petitioner filed a timely notice of appeal. This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

ARGUMENT

Violating Petitioner's rights pursuant to South Carolina law and the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, the PCR court erred in denying Petitioner relief from his murder conviction where the PCR court held trial counsel's deficient performance in failing to request a jury instruction on self-defense, which would have been reversed on direct appeal, was not prejudicial to Petitioner.

Petitioner was charged and convicted of murdering his wife, Eliza Hernandez. During the trial, Petitioner presented evidence that the shooting was accidental or in self-defense. Despite clear evidence in the record of Petitioner acting in self-defense, the trial judge refused to charge the jury concerning self-defense, and trial counsel abandoned his previously-made request for such a charge. The PCR judge found trial counsel's abandonment of the request was deficient performance and had trial counsel preserved the error for appeal, Petitioner's conviction would have been reversed by an appellate court and a new trial granted. However, the PCR judge erred by concluding that Petitioner had failed to prove prejudice, despite his express finding that an appellate court would have reversed.

Relevant facts from the trial.

In his opening statement, the prosecutor claimed Petitioner's statement to police, what the prosecutor called the "third version," asserted that Petitioner's and Hernandez's fingers were on the trigger: "She goes and gets a gun, her fingers are on the trigger, this is his third version, his, his fingers were on the trigger, her fingers are on the trigger, the gun is pointed at him, but somehow or another she wounds up getting shot." App. 153, lines 18-22.

Opening statement by petitioner's trial counsel explained that Hernandez became more aggressive and she eventually attacked Petitioner, including pulling his hair, scratching his neck,

and yanking off his medallion. App. 163, lines 12-23. Counsel further told the jury that the fight became “more and more aggressive” and that Hernandez attacked Petitioner in the living room as well. In the bedroom, Hernandez pushed Petitioner down on the bed and tried to hit him with a dumbbell. Eventually, Hernandez retrieved a handgun. Petitioner, in fear of his life, struggled with Hernandez for control of the gun. During the struggle, Hernandez is shot. App. 164, line 3 – App. 165, line 3.

Petitioner’s mother, Isabel Rios, testified that Petitioner asked Hernandez for food, and she refused to give him any food. App. 287, lines 3-5. When Petitioner asked for Thanksgiving dinner, Hernandez told him to eat the lunch she had packed for him earlier. App. 287, lines 21-25. She further testified that Hernandez pushed Petitioner, not that Petitioner pushed Hernandez. App. 288, lines 6-13. Hernandez and Petitioner then went into the room and locked the door. App. 288, lines 15-17; App. 289, lines 12-14. Rios heard Hernandez hitting Petitioner and calling him a bastard. App. 290, line 12 – App. 291, line 2. Rios further testified that Petitioner told her that Hernandez shot herself. App. 291, lines 24-25.¹

Reid Lindsay with the Spartanburg County Sheriff’s Office testified that he observed wads of hair at the crime scene. He agreed that finding “wads of hair” was indicative of a struggle. App. 245, lines 19-25. He agreed that there were signs of a struggle in the living room based on finding hair there. He further explained the hair belonged to Petitioner. App. 252, line 20 – App. 253, line

¹ Through George Baldarama, a Spanish-speaking officer with the Spartanburg County Sheriff’s Office, the prosecution admitted Rios’ statement to police regarding the events of Thanksgiving evening. Rios told police that she saw Petitioner and Hernandez arguing, saw them grab each other’s hair, and saw Hernandez grab a medallion from Petitioner’s neck scratching his chest. She heard the two arguing in their room, and then heard a shot. Petitioner ran from the room saying either Hernandez had been shot or he had shot Hernandez. App. 382, lines 1-25.

6.² Lindsay also admitted that according to Petitioner's statement, the shooting was accidental. App. 249, lines 7-9. Matt Fitts, an expert in forensic DNA and serology, testified the hair recovered from the floor of the living room belonged to Petitioner. App. 529, lines 6-11.³ Concerning hair recovered from the bedroom floor, Fitts developed a partial DNA profile. He excluded Hernandez as the owner of the hair, but could not exclude Petitioner as the hair's owner. App. 530, line 18 – App. 531, line 5.

Investigator William Gary testified that Petitioner stated that Hernandez had the gun and the two fought over the gun, and that Petitioner "had his hands on [the gun]." He elaborated that Petitioner stated the gun turned towards Hernandez and fired. App. 354, lines 11-20. Gary also testified that Petitioner's t-shirt was torn, indicating he had been involved in a domestic struggle. App. 361, lines 10-17.

Angel Diaz, an employee of the Sheriff's Department, testified that he assisted Gary with interrogating Petitioner by acting as an interpreter. App. 410, lines 7-16. Diaz read Petitioner's statement to the jury. Hernandez was angry with Petitioner and would not give him food. She was angry with him for staying out late drinking at his sister's house and because he did not eat the lunch she had packed for him earlier that day. Petitioner admitted the two shoved each other. He stated that Hernandez pulled his hair and pulled his medallion. The two then went to a bedroom.

Petitioner explained:

² Crime scene investigator Tim Davis testified hair was found in the living room of the residence where the shooting occurred. App. 455, lines 4-13. He further testified that hair was found near where Hernandez's body was found. App. 456, lines 5-10.

³ Fitts also testified that swabs from the bedroom floor revealed the presence of blood. The DNA profiles developed from the swabs were mixtures of at least two individuals. The major contributor was Hernandez, and Petitioner could not be excluded as a possible minor contributor. App. 529, line 25 – App. 530, line 6.

She had me by the neck. She grabbed a two to three pound weight and hit me in the mouth with it. She told me that her mom was on the way to pick her up. I asked why. She said she did not want to be with me no more. She pushed me on the bed. She went after the gun. I was afraid. I wanted to get to, I wanted to get it from her, but she was pointing, pointing it at me.

She turned. I wanted to open the door, but I could not. She turned her face and I grabbed the gun. We struggled. I told her to let go. She had her finger on the trigger, and I had the barrel.

I told her you're going to kill me. She said yes, so you won't belong to no one else. We struggled. I was defending myself. I thought that a bullet might come out and hit me or her or my mom. During the struggle, a shot was fired. She fell.

App. 416, line 21 – App. 418, line 17.

John Wren, the forensic pathologist, testified that Hernandez died as a result of a gunshot wound. He explained she had “a through-and-through gunshot wound to the head. The entrance was just to the side of the nose on the left side... and it went through her head and came out just to the right of midline at the vertex of her head.” App. 561, line 23 – App. 562, line 3. He further found this was an “[e]xtremely close range gunshot wound.” App. 564, line 5. Concerning the path taken by the bullet, Dr. Wren testified the bullet moved “upward at about 75 to 80 degrees ... going from left to right.” App. 568, line 23 – App. 569, line 1.

During the charge conference Petitioner's trial counsel requested an instruction on self-defense. App. 605, lines 4-5. The prosecutor responded: “I don't think he's entitled to self-defense.” App. 605, line 10. Specifically, the prosecutor argued that self-defense requires the person admit to shooting another person: “The, the whole premise behind self-defense is that I committed a homicide, I shot someone, but I did so in self-defense. At no point has this side of the courtroom ever admitted they shot Eliza Hernandez. Never once. Finger was not on the trigger. That's an accident.” App. 605, lines 19-24. He elaborated: “[Petitioner] doesn't even admit he shot her. So, he's not entitled to self-defense.” App. 606, lines 1-3. Petitioner responded by continuing

his request for self-defense jury charge and explaining the charge was appropriate because there was evidence to cause the jury to believe Petitioner acted in self-defense. To support his position, he pointed to Petitioner's statement in which he said "it was self-defense." App. 607, lines 9-18; see also, App. 612, lines 1-3.

The trial court determined he was not bound by Petitioner's characterization of his conduct as self-defense. App. 612, lines 4-6; see also, App. 614, lines 9-11. The trial court responded "I don't see self-defense in here." App. 615, line 16. Trial counsel then asked the court to charge voluntary manslaughter and accident in addition to the murder jury instruction. App. 615, lines 21-23. Thereafter, the judge did not instruct the jury as to self-defense, but instructed the jury as to voluntary manslaughter, murder, and accident. App. 661, line 19 – App. 665, line 22.

In closing argument, the state argued Petitioner shot Hernandez "in the face and put a bullet through her head." App. 628, lines 6-7. Additionally, the state noted that Petitioner "says he was just a grieving husband, and it was an accident or it was a struggle or it was a suicide." App. 629, lines 3-4. The prosecutor argued that Petitioner told law enforcement that he and Hernandez argued and she attacked him; she was the aggressor. App. 635, lines 6-8. To counter Petitioner's statements to law enforcement, the prosecutor argued "[t]his was not self-defense." App. 644, line 11.

Defense counsel argued to the jury that the pathologist's testimony concerning the pathway of the bullet supported Petitioner's statement to police. He explained:

But there was the picture of Mrs. Hernandez with the rod through her, with the rod through her. ... If he is seated on the bed, and she is standing, and she had the gun in her hands, and she's pointing the gun at him like this, and if he does what he says he does in his statement, if he takes his hands and he puts them on the gun, and he does this, ladies and gentlemen, look at the rod. Look at the trajectory. It's exactly the way it would be if the, if what happened in that bedroom is the way [Petitioner] said it happened.

Look at it. He's sitting down on the bed. She's standing up. The trajectory of the bullet was upward. It's the only story that makes sense. I'm gonna tell you why. The trajectory was upward. ... The only story that makes sense is her standing over him with the gun. Her standing over him with the gun, and in his own defense, taking her hands, taking the gun, and turning it away.

App. 621, line 19 – App. 622, line 25.

Relevant facts from the direct appeal.

Following his trial, Petitioner filed a timely notice of appeal. Ricky Harris represented Petitioner on appeal. One of the issues raised on appeal was that the trial court erred in refusing to instruct the jury on self-defense because there was evidence in the record by which a jury could have found that Petitioner was acting in self-defense. App. 685 – 698 (Final Brief of Petitioner, third issue). Concerning this issue, the state argued Petitioner had abandoned his request for jury instruction on self-defense. App. 728 – 733 (Final Brief of Respondent). Specifically, the state argued this was not a situation where Petitioner received an unfavorable ruling and failed to renew his objection at the conclusion of the trial; rather, Petitioner had acquiesced into the trial judge's analysis and decided to affirmatively abandon the request. App. 733, fn. 6. In his reply brief, Petitioner argued against abandonment of the request for the jury instruction. App. 749 – 752.

On July 14, 2010, the Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner's conviction. As to the issue of a jury instruction concerning self-defense, the Court of Appeals held Petitioner abandoned his request when he acquiesced and asked the trial court to charge voluntary manslaughter, accident, and murder. Therefore, the court concluded, Petitioner waived appellate review of the issue. As a result, the Court refused to consider the merits of the issue. App. 753 – 759.

Relevant facts from the PCR hearing.

During the PCR hearing, Petitioner testified that he was trying to defend his life when Hernandez was killed. He explained that she had a gun pointed at him and he was defending

himself when she was shot. App. 790, lines 6-16. Petitioner further explained that he and Hernandez were struggling over the gun together. App. 796, lines 16-19. Over objection by the state, Petitioner testified that he did not realize the jury would not consider self-defense if he did not testify. App. 797, lines 1-16.

Petitioner submitted a written summary of his claims for relief, which was admitted as Applicant's Exhibit #1 at the PCR hearing. App. 896-912. In this summary, Petitioner explained his trial counsel abandoned the request for the jury instruction of self-defense by failing to define self-defense and provide the trial court with the evidence presented to support the charge. App. 896.

Doug Brannon, one of Petitioner's trial attorneys, testified that Petitioner told him "there was a struggle between [Petitioner] and his wife, she grabbed a gun, and, unfortunately it went off." App. 825, lines 1-3. Brannon agreed there was evidence of a struggle in the record, including evidence of Hernandez physically attacking him. Principally, he pointed to "balls of his hair" that Hernandez had pulled from his head. App. 826, lines 13-22. Brannon's understanding of the events resulting in Hernandez's death was the two argued and then struggled. App. 827, line 3-12.

Brannon testified that although he asked for an instruction on self-defense, they never built a case for it. The defense theory was "there was a struggle over the gun." App. 833, lines 2-18. However, he explained he based his request for the charge based on the "totality of the circumstances," including the interior of the home showing signs of a struggle and Petitioner declaring he acted in self-defense. App. 834, lines 3-20. On cross-examination, Brannon admitted the record contained evidence that Hernandez pushed Petitioner first, and that he misspoke when he informed the trial judge that no such evidence existed. App. 837, lines 4-25. He also agreed that his co-counsel had informed the jury about self-defense during his opening statement. App. 851, lines

9-13. During the PCR, Brannon maintained that self-defense was an appropriate charge in the case. App. 838, lines 1-9.

David Collins disagreed that he presented a theory of self-defense in his opening statement. He agreed the defense theory was there was an argument and an altercation that spread through the house, which resulted in Hernandez being shot. Collins maintained that Petitioner never acknowledged that “he did the shooting.” App. 858, line 13 – App. 859, line 10. Despite his initial testimony on direct examination by the state that his opening statement did not convey a theory of self-defense to the jury, he admitted on cross-examination by Petitioner that although he did not utter the word self-defense, he presented the jury with self-defense. App. 873, line 23 – App. 874, line 18. Nevertheless, he maintained that Petitioner denied “he did the shooting,” and his understanding at the time was “there had to be an acknowledged shooting” in order for Petitioner to avail himself of self-defense. App. 875, lines 4-16. He hoped the jury could have interpreted he was making a self-defense argument in his opening statement. App. 875, lines 17-19.

The PCR judge noted that in order for the jury to convict Petitioner of murder, the jury would have to find that Petitioner discharged the weapon, but this was the same fact that the trial judge determined had not been presented in evidence and required exclusion of the charge of self-defense. App. 888, lines 9-14.

Order denying PCR.

By order filed June 18, 2012, Judge Hayes found, as an initial matter, trial counsel had requested the court instruct the jury as to self-defense. Judge Hayes also found that trial counsel acknowledged the trial record contained evidence that he failed to articulate to the trial judge to support his position that Petitioner was entitled to a charge on self-defense. App. 917 – 918. Judge Hayes further found “there is a high probability an appellate court would have found that the trial

judge should have charged self-defense.” Nevertheless, Judge Hayes denied relief on this claim based upon the following reasoning:

[A]lthough there appeared to be evidence in the record that would reach the legal requirement to charge self-defense, it does not appear to this court that sufficient evidence of self-defense was presented for this court to conclude that a different outcome in the trial was likely or probable. Furthermore, it is clear that the lack of credibility of [Petitioner], as a result of [Petitioner]’s various stories as to the events that evening harmed the outcome of the trial.

App. 918.

Thereafter, Petitioner filed a motion to alter or amend the judgment. Regarding this claim, Petitioner objected to the PCR court’s analysis. Specifically, Petitioner objected to the court finding a high probability that an appellate court would have found that the judge should have charged self-defense, and yet, finding trial counsel effective despite his failure to request the charge of self-defense and its companion that the state must disprove self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt.

App. 923 – 924.

Order denying Petitioner’s Motion to Alter or Amend.

On February 22, 2012, Judge Hayes requested oral argument from the parties on the following issue: “In a post-conviction relief case, can the finder of fact, engage in a weighing of evidence to determine whether an error made at trial (an error which on direct appeal of the underlying criminal case would be deemed reversible) was insufficient to grant the PCR application due to the existence of other evidence supporting the applicant’s guilt[?]” App. 929 – 930. On June 4, 2012, the parties appeared before Judge Hayes concerning the matter presented. App. 931. Petitioner argued the trial court erred by applying a harmless error analysis in addition to the prejudice analysis for reviewing claims of ineffective assistance of counsel. App. 934, lines 10 – 24. Additionally, Petitioner noted the abundance of evidence to support self-defense presented at the trial. App. 935, lines 11 – 24. During the arguments, Judge Hayes explained that he was

struggling with whether a PCR court could find such a clear error that was not preserved by the attorney and then engage in a weighing of the evidence to determine whether that error was harmless. App. 946, lines 6 – 24. Petitioner responded that the appropriate standard is a reasonable probability, not harmless error. App. 947, lines 6 – 22.

On July 2, 2012, Judge Hayes issued a form order expressing his findings of fact and legal conclusions. Specifically, Judge Hayes concluded “that, but for trial counsel abandoning the issue of self-defense, the issue would have been addressed by the appellate court.” According to Judge Hayes, there was “a very reasonable probability that the appellate court would have reversed the trial court and granted a new trial. Thus, but for the professionally deficient representation by trial counsel, the [Petitioner]’s conviction would have been reversed and a new trial granted.” App. 950. Nevertheless, Judge Hayes held that Petitioner had not proven “that to a reasonable probability the outcome would have been different.” App. 951. Thus, Judge Hayes denied the motion to alter or amend. Additionally, he requested the Attorney General prepare an order consistent with his form order. App. 951. On October 2, 2012, Judge Hayes signed an order denying the petition to alter or amend. Regarding this allegation, Judge Hayes found counsel was ineffective for failing to properly preserve the request for a self-defense charge; however, he could not find the requisite prejudice required. Ultimately, he determined the court could not “rule to a reasonable degree of probability that the outcome of the [Petitioner]’s trial would have been different had counsel not abandoned the self-defense charge or had the self-defense charge been provided to the jury.” App. 953.

Discussion

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees criminal defendants the right to the effective assistance of counsel. In order to obtain relief based upon a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, a Petitioner must show that counsel’s performance was

deficient and such deficiency prejudiced the Petitioner. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). An attorney whose representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness provided deficient performance. Id. at 688. An attorney's performance is measured against prevailing professional norms. Id. at 688. When an attorney's performance is unreasonable under professional norms, then the attorney rendered deficient performance. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). Prejudice occurs where the attorney's deficient performance so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result. The test is whether there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. Strickland, supra; Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 186, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735 (1997); Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). Appellate courts give great deference to the PCR court's findings of fact and conclusions of law. Dempsey v. State, 363 S.C. 365, 368, 610 S.E.2d 812, 814 (2005). When reviewing a PCR court's decision, a reviewing court "is concerned only with whether any evidence of probative value exists to support the decision." Smith v. State, 369 S.C. 135, 138, 631 S.E.2d 260, 261 (2006).

In a case remarkably similar to Petitioner's, this Court found a PCR applicant was entitled to relief from his convictions where trial counsel failed to request a jury instruction on self-defense at his trial for assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature and assaulting a police officer. Stone v. State, 294 S.C. 286, 363 S.E.2d 903 (1988). A defendant is entitled to a jury instruction on self-defense if the record contains evidence tending to show the four elements of self-defense. Id. at 287, 363 S.E.2d at 904. Stone presented sufficient evidence to entitle him to a jury instruction on self-defense, as found by this Court, and his attorney testified that he did not request the instruction because "it did not cross his mind." Trial counsel did not think the defense was applicable because

it occurred outdoors and both parties had the opportunity to flee. Id. at 287-288, 363 S.E.2d at 904. Having found Stone presented evidence to entitle him to a jury instruction on self-defense and that trial counsel had no strategic reason for failing to make the request, this Court determined trial counsel provided deficient performance. Turning to the prejudice prong, this Court found Stone suffered prejudice as a result of trial counsel's failure because the prosecution's case rested primarily on the testimony of the victim and police officers. Therefore, this Court reversed the decision of the lower court and ordered a new trial for Stone. Id. at 288, 363 S.E.2d at 904.

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