ALAN WILSON  
ATTORNEY GENERAL

PCR DIVISION: 803.734.3737  
PCR FACSIMILE: 803.734.4113

October 16, 2013

**RECEIVED**

OCT 16 2013

**S.C. Supreme Court**

*Via Hand Delivery*

Honorable Daniel E. Shearouse  
Clerk of the Supreme Court of South Carolina  
Post Office Box 11330  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211

**RE: Santiago Rios v. State of South Carolina  
Circuit Court Case No: 2011-CP-42-5461  
Appellate Case No.: 2012-213256**

Dear Mr. Shearouse:

Enclosed please find the original and six (6) copies of the Return to Petition for Writ of Certiorari in the above matter for filing in your office. By copy of this letter I am serving opposing counsel with this return today.

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

## ARGUMENT

**I. The PCR Court properly denied relief when Petitioner failed to demonstrate that the outcome of the proceedings would have been different, but for Counsel’s failure to request a jury instruction on self-defense.**

Petitioner was charged with murder, following an incident in which Petitioner’s wife (“Hernandez”) was shot and killed in their home on November 23, 2006. The night of the shooting, Petitioner told a responding police officer that three black male intruders robbed their home and shot Hernandez. (App. Vol. I p. 182). Initially, Petitioner maintained that intruders shot Hernandez. However, Petitioner later changed his story and told investigators he and Hernandez got into an argument that led to a physical confrontation and a struggle between them for the gun. (App. Vol. I p. 354). According to Petitioner’s own statement, the physical altercation started when he shoved Hernandez after she refused to fix him Thanksgiving dinner. (App. Vol. I p. 417). Petitioner then told investigators Hernandez pulled his hair and the medallion around his neck. (App. Vol. I p. 417). Petitioner stated he followed Hernandez into their bedroom, where she grabbed a gun and pointed it at him, at which time the two struggled with the gun and it fired. (App. Vol. I p. 418). Petitioner alleged Counsel was ineffective for failing to preserve the request for a jury instruction on self-defense and that the PCR court erred

in denying Petitioner relief, because the PCR court held Counsel's deficient performance was not prejudicial to Petitioner.

In a post-conviction relief proceeding, the Petitioner bears the burden of proving the allegations in their application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). Where ineffective assistance of counsel is alleged as a ground for relief, the Petitioner must prove that "Counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2064, 80 L.Ed.2d 674, 692 (1984); Butler, 334 S.E.2d 813.

The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. The courts presume that Counsel rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. Strickland, 80 L.Ed.2d 674. The Petitioner must overcome this presumption in order to receive relief. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989).

A two-pronged test is used in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of Counsel. First, the Petitioner must prove that Counsel's performance was deficient. Under this prong, attorney performance is measured by its "reasonableness under professional norms." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625, (citing Strickland). Second, Counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced the Petitioner such that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for Counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625.

Petitioner testified at the evidentiary hearing that he was trying to defend his life on the day his wife was killed. (App. Vol. I p. 790). Petitioner also stated he gave a statement to police in Spanish while at the police station. (App. Vol. I p. 792). However, Petitioner testified there

was no third-party involvement during the incident, contrary to his 911 call and original statement. (App. Vol. I p. 801). Additionally, Petitioner testified he remembers all of the events leading up to and the actual shooting of his wife, but was unable to remember what happened to the gun. (App. Vol. I p. 804).

David Collins (“Counsel”) testified he acted as first chair on the case shortly after being hired by Petitioner’s family in 2006. (App. Vol. I p. 856). Counsel testified that the work load was split up with Douglas Brannon (“Co-Counsel”), where Counsel would do the opening and the more scientific witnesses. (App. Vol. I pp. 856-57). Co-Counsel was in charge of the closing and the police officers. (App. Vol. I p. 857). Counsel testified Petitioner understood what was happening at all of their meetings because he hired a translator to be present. (App. Vol. I p. 863). Counsel testified that at no point did Petitioner ever acknowledge that he did the shooting, which led accident to be the theme of the story from the very beginning. (App. Vol. II p. 858; p. 875). Counsel testified that his understanding at the time was that for there to be a self-defense charge, there had to be an acknowledged shooting, but the information provided by Petitioner only supported accident. (App. Vol. II p. 875).

Counsel testified that this case was a frustrating case because it was very difficult to pin down what the story and truth was and what they could argue to the jury. (App. Vol. II p. 859). Counsel also testified they searched for, but had no evidence to support that Petitioner’s wife ever had a weapon or had been violent towards him in the past, and no witnesses could be produced to corroborate what Petitioner said happened in the bedroom. (App. Vol. II pp. 860-61). In fact, Counsel testified that the evidence indicated that there was no gunshot residue on either the victim or Petitioner, but Petitioner would have had the opportunity to remove the residue, while the victim would not. (App. Vol. II p. 881-2). Respondent submits that this

evidence is in direct contradiction to Petitioner's claims that the victim had a hold of the gun when it went off.

Co-Counsel testified that throughout his time working on the case, Petitioner made it known the masked men was not true and this was an accident case. (App. Vol. II p. 822). Co-Counsel also testified that there was physical evidence of a struggle that go out of hand, which also supported the accident theory. (App. Vol. II p. 826). Co-Counsel testified that they were going to attempt to show that there were signs of a struggle, to show that there was a dispute between Petitioner and his wife, but other than that and the Petitioner's one statement that it was self-defense, "that was it." (App. Vol. II p. 834). Co-Counsel testified that Petitioner had never said that he shot Hernandez in any manner, but rather that there was a struggle over the gun. (App. Vol. II p. 833). Co-Counsel testified that Petitioner's story was that the argument between he and his wife started at the front door of the house and ended in the bedroom where his wife grabbed the gun and Petitioner and his wife struggled over the gun. (App. Vol. II p. 836). Additionally, Co-Counsel testified that Petitioner also told Co-Counsel and Counsel that the shooting was a suicide by his wife, but he could not let it be a suicide or she would be "damned to hell." (App. Vol. II p. 850).

"When a defendant challenges a conviction, the question is whether there is a reasonable probability that, absent the errors, the fact finder would have had a reasonable doubt respecting guilt." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 695, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 2068-69, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984). Further, the court determining prejudice must ask if the [Applicant] has met the burden of showing that the decision reached would reasonably likely have been different absent the errors. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 696, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 2069, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984). Prejudice may be "demonstrated by establishing, by a reasonable probability that, 'but

for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.”

Gibbs v. State, 403 S.C. 484, 492, 744 S.E.2d 170, 174 (2013)

The PCR court was correct in finding that although evidence in the record may support the legal requirement of a self-defense charge; the evidence was not enough for the court to conclude that a different outcome in the proceeding was either likely or probable if a self-defense charge was preserved. (App. Vol. II p. 918). As Co-Counsel testified, he and Counsel were most concerned with having the jury charge of accident presented to the jury. (App. Vol. II p. 833). Co-Counsel initially asked the trial court for charges of accident, self-defense, voluntary manslaughter, and involuntary manslaughter. (App. Vol. II p. 605). However, the jury was ultimately provided with instructions on murder, accident, and voluntary manslaughter. (App. Vol. II p. 615-6). In the discussion regarding charges, the trial court indicated that in looking at the elements of self-defense, the court found no evidence to support that the victim was the primary aggressor or that the victim and the Petitioner were not engaging in mutual combat, which both are exclusions to self-defense. (App. Vol. II p. 614). Further, the court indicated that the evidence supported a charge for accident and voluntary, but that there was no evidence to support Petitioner killing victim in self-defense. (App. Vol II p. 615). After these discussions, Counsel and Co-Counsel conferred and Co-Counsel asked the court to charge accident and voluntary manslaughter. (App. Vol. II p. 615). The jury only deliberated for a little over an hour before returning a verdict of guilty on the murder charge. (App. Vol. II p. 673).

When reviewing the trial as a whole, issues of evidence and credibility, and the jury charge as a whole, the PCR court properly found that Co-Counsel's failure to request self-defense, although deficient, was not prejudicial to the Petitioner. "In evaluating whether a PCR applicant has suffered prejudice as a result of a jury charge, the jury charge must be viewed 'in

its entirety and not in isolation.”” Gibbs v. State, 403 S.C. 484, 495, 744 S.E.2d 170, 176 (2013). Respondent submits that the PCR court was correct in finding that Petitioner was not prejudiced by Counsel’s actions because it had no effect on the outcome of the proceedings. The Order signed by Judge Hayes clearly and accurately discusses the overwhelming evidence against Petitioner and how the outcome would not have changed if an instruction for self-defense was given. Furthermore, given the quality of the evidence presented which established the guilt of the Petitioner, there was no prejudice. Therefore, the Petitioner failed to meet his burden of establishing that he was prejudiced as a result of the failure of his counsel to request a self-defense charge.

Respondent submits that the Petitioner failed to meet his required burden of proof and probative evidence exists to support the court’s denial of his post-conviction relief application.